FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/16/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/16/2024 2:10 PM

NO. Court of Appeals No. 86856-0-I

Case #: 1036981

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

ZAQUAI ZEKIE DE SHAY McCRAY,

Respondent.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Alicia Burton

No. 19-1-02603-2

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 18096 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2913

I. INTRODUCTION

Review is warranted in this case because the court of appeals decision is inconsistent with this court's decisions in *Kier*, ¹ *Nelson*, ² and *Tvedt*. ³ Robbery does not require the State to establish the specific identity of the victim or victims. Robbery does not require the State to establish that the victim or victims own the property taken, only that they have a possessory right superior to that of the defendant. Robbery does not require jury unanimity as to the identity of the victim when items are taken from the presence of multiple people in the same incident.

The court of appeals disregarded these well-established principles and reversed one count of robbery in the first degree because the State did not identify a victim in the charging document or the "to convict" instruction and it argued that all four of the persons present in the apartment at the time of the

¹ State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 194 P.3d 212 (2008).

² State v. Nelson, 191 Wn.2d 61, 419 P.3d 410 (2018).

³ State v. Tvedt, 153 Wn.2d 705, 107 P.3d 728 (2005).

robbery were victims. The court of appeals held that the State's actions violated the defendant's constitutional right to a unanimous verdict as it found that the identity of the victim is an essential element of the crime of robbery, that multiple robberies occurred, and that two of the four persons who were threatened at gun point when the property was removed could not be victims because they did not have an ownership interest in the stolen gaming consoles, TVs, or sound system.

The appellate court's unprecedented reformulation of the law of robbery that included a declaration that an essential element of the crime is the identity of the victim, that a robbery occurs only when the victim has an ownership interest in the stolen property, and that multiple robberies occur when property is stolen from the presence of multiple people, compels the victims to endure another trial and squanders limited judicial resources. The decision, moreover, will engender a stream of post-conviction challenges in multi-victim-single-count-robbery cases. Review of this case furthers the important principle of

finality and preserves the legislature's prerogative to define crimes.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the court of appeals in *State of Washington v. Zaquai Zekie De Shay McCray*, No. 86856-0-I (November 19, 2024). A copy of the slip opinion may be found in the appendix.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The court of appeals reversed Zaquai McCray's conviction for robbery in the first degree. The court did this by holding, contrary to *State v. Kier*, 164 Wn.2d 798, 194 P.3d 212 (2008), that the identity of the victim is an essential element of robbery. *See* Slip op. at 9. The court did this by holding, contrary to *State v. Nelson*, 191 Wn.2d 61, 419 P.3d 410 (2018), that the victim must have an ownership interest in the stolen property. Slip op. at 9. The court did this by holding, contrary to *State v. Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d 705, 107 P.2d 728 (2005), that multiple robberies

occur when property is taken from the presence of multiple victims in a single incident. Slip op. at 9-11.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) where the court of appeals, ignoring three of this Court's precedent, reversed a robbery conviction on the grounds that (1) the identity of the victim did not appear in the charging document or to convict instruction, (2) two of the four persons from whom the property was forcibly taken did not have an ownership interest in the stolen items, and (3) lack of jury unanimity regarding the robbery.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Harold Walker, Desire'e Lair, and Brandon Floyd, also known as "Old School," lived in an apartment together. RP 221-22. Javonne McCray, also known as "Jay," and his younger brother Zaquai McCray, also known as "Flaco," both lived in the same complex. RP 224-25, 306.

On July 13, 2019, McCray and his brother struck the back door of Lair's apartment causing a loud "boom" and that resulted in the door falling to the ground. RP 230-31, 316-17. When the boom was heard, Lair and Walker were in her bedroom, Floyd and a friend named Marquis Jones, who went by Ace, were in Floyd's room playing video games. RP 229-31, 316-17, 320, 452-53.

When Lair opened her bedroom door to investigate the boom, McCray, who had entered the apartment with his brother, demanded money for damage to his vehicle and that if money was not forthcoming, stated an intent to take anything he wanted from the residence. RP 231-33, 319, 321. McCray's demands were supported by his brother, who pointed a double-barrel shotgun in a ready-to-shoot position, at Lair and Walker. RP 233-34, 319, 321.

Floyd came to the doorway of his room acting "tough," until he saw the shotgun, which McCray's brother turned on him and Jones. RP 321-22. While pointing the shotgun at Lair,

Jones, and Floyd, McCray's brother continued to demand money or property. RP 238, 322. After a short "tussle" between McCray's brother and Floyd that resulted in injuries to Floyd, McCray took possession of the shotgun which remained pointed at Lair, Walker, Floyd, and Floyd's guest, while Floyd's room was searched for valuables. RP 239-41, 285, 323-25.

Both McCray and his brother made threats during the incident, leading to Lair calling 911. RP 285, 326, 332. During the call, Lair told McCray and his brother to leave, yelling "put that shit back." RP 331-32; Ex. 3. Disregarding this demand, McCray and his brother left the apartment, taking with them two game systems, two televisions, and the surround sound system that belonged to Walker. *See* RP 241-42, 245, 249, 262-63, 275, 283, 285-86.

Shortly after leaving Lair's apartment, McCray was observed carrying a long straight item wrapped in a blanket. RP 483-84, 487. Immediately prior to being detained, McCray dropped something to the ground while between two parked cars.

RP 485. After McCray was detained, a long item wrapped in a blanket was retrieved from where McCray had been. The item was a shotgun. RP 487-88, 503-04. Two Play Stations and one controller were located on a ledge near where McCray was first observed. RP 487-88.

McCray was ultimately tried on one count of burglary in the first degree and one count of robbery in the first degree. CP 16-17. As to the robbery count, the jury was instructed that,

To convict ZAQUAI MCCRAY of the crime of robbery in the first degree, each of the following six elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about July 13, 2019, the defendant, ZAQUAI MCCRAY, or an accomplice unlawfully took personal property from the person or in the presence of another;
- (2) That ZAQUAI MCCRAY or an accomplice intended to commit theft of the property;
- (3) That the taking was against the person's will by the defendant's use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person;

- (4) That force or fear was used by ZAQUAI MCCRAY or an accomplice to obtain or retain possession of the property;
- (5)(a) That in the commission of these acts or in the immediate flight therefrom the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon; or
- (5)(b) That in the commission of these acts or in the immediate flight therefrom the defendant displayed what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon; and
- (6) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 40 (Jury Instruction No. 14).

McCray raised no objection to the "to-convict" instruction. He did not request any alteration or addition to that portion of the "to-convict" instruction that directed the jury regarding unanimity despite his acknowledgement in his trial brief that there were at least two victims of the charged crimes. See RP 532; CP 14 ("Whether or not Desiree Lair and Harold Walker are in fact, the victim of the crime(s) charged is a factual determination for the jury."). Nor did he request that a victim be identified in the instruction. *Id*.

McCray did not object to Jury Instruction No. 9, which defined the crime of robbery. CP 35; RP 531. He did not request that this instruction be amended to state that the person from whom the personal property was taken must have an ownership interest in the property. RP 531.

McCray did not contend prior to or during trial that multiple separate robberies had been committed. He did not object to the State's identification in its closing argument that the robbery involved the pointing of the shotgun at four people, accompanied by threats and the taking of property that did not belong to McCray or his brother. *See* RP 541-50. Instead, McCray contended that no burglary occurred because none of the people present had the authority to exclude someone from the apartment because they were not on the lease and that the people in the apartment were lying about items being taken. *See* RP 574-90.

The jury found McCray guilty of both robbery and burglary and that he was armed with a firearm during the

commission of both crimes. CP 56-59; RP 615-17. McCray did not dispute the State's characterization of the robbery as one offense with multiple victims, rather than multiple robberies. *See generally* RP 637; CP 61-62, 76.

McCray appealed his convictions. For the first time, he contended that his constitutional right to a unanimous verdict was violated because there had been "multiple possible acts of robbery." *See* Appellant's Opening Brief at 18. Citing to multiple acts per count sexual abuse cases and double jeopardy cases, McCray contended that the jury was required to unanimously agree on a single victim. *Id.* at 10-20; Reply Brief at 1-5. He further argued that the evidence was insufficient to sustain two of the possible acts of robbery because the persons from whose presence the property was taken lacked an ownership interest. Opening Brief at 20-25.

The court of appeals reversed the robbery conviction on the grounds that McCray's right to a unanimous verdict was violated. Slip op. at 12. The court made three legal conclusions in support of its decision: (1) that the identity of victim is an essential element of robbery, *see* slip op. at 9; (2) that a person can only be a victim of robbery when s/he has an ownership interest in the stolen property, *id.*; and (3) multiple distinct robberies occur when property is taken from the presence of multiple persons in a single incident. Slip op. at 9-11.

The State files this timely petition for review.

VI. ARGUMENT

Washington adheres to the doctrine of "vertical stare decisis." *Presbytery of Seattle v. Schultz*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 696, 707-08, 449 P.3d 1077 (2019). This doctrine requires the court of appeals to follow decisions handed down by higher courts in the same jurisdiction. *Id.*; *State v. Pedro*, 148 Wn. App. 932, 950, 201 P.3d 398 (2009). This doctrine deprives the court of appeals of the power or authority to overrule, revise, abrogate, or ignore decisions by this court. *Kunath v. City of Seattle*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 205, 211, 444 P.3d 1235 (2019).

This court enforces compliance with the doctrine of vertical stare decisis by granting review of court of appeals decisions that conflict with its decisions. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1). And sometimes this court summarily reverses the most egregious instances without oral argument. *See, e.g., State v. McWhorter,* 2 Wn.3d 324, 327, 535 P.3d 880 (2023) (reversing court of appeals decision that conflicted with this court's decision in a per curiam decision); *In re Pers. Restraint of Richardson,* 200 Wn.2d 845, 525 P.3d 939 (2022) (reversing court of appeals in the same order that granted motion for discretionary review because the decision conflicted with prior decisions of this court); *State v. Cate,* 194 Wn.2d 909, 913, 453 P.3d 990 (2020)

⁴ The docket for *State v. McWhorter*, No. 101691-3, indicates that no oral argument was held in this case prior to the issuance of its opinion. The docket is available at <a href="https://dw.courts.wa.gov/index.cfm?fa=home.casesummary&casenumber=1016913&searchtype=2&crt_itl_nu=A08&filingDate=2023-02-06%2000:00:00.0&courtClassCode=A&casekey=182963344&courtname=Supreme%20Court&dspnav=case (last visited Dec. 10, 2024).

(reversing court of appeals decision that misapplied this court's precedent in a per curiam opinion).⁵ This case presents an egregious violation of vertical stare decisis.

Review is appropriate here pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) as the court of appeal's decision conflicts with this court's decisions in *Kier*, *Nelson*, *Tvedt*, and other cases identified herein. The decision alters the elements of robbery by making the identity of the victim an essential element of the crime, requiring the victim to have an ownership interest in the stolen property, and holding that multiple robberies occur whenever force or the threat of force is utilized to take property from the presence of multiple

⁵ The docket for *State v. Cate*, No. 97209-5, indicates that the opinion was issued following the court's consideration of the petition for review in an en banc admin conference. The docket is available at

https://dw.courts.wa.gov/index.cfm?fa=home.casesumma ry&casenumber=972095&searchtype=2&crt_itl_nu=A08&filin gDate=2019-05-

^{16%2000:00:00.0&}amp;courtClassCode=A&casekey=177995770&courtname=Supreme%20Court&dspnav=case (last visited Dec. 10, 2024).

people in a single incident. This new formulation of robbery usurps the legislature's prerogative to define crimes and will engender a host of collateral attacks on long final convictions.

Robbery in Washington is the taking of property from the person or presence of another with the intent to deprive that person of the property and that the property is taken or retained by means of force or fear. RCW 9A.56.19©; *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 88, 292 P.3d 715 (2012) (crime of robbery includes the nonstatutory element of a specific intent to steal). Robbery begins with the taking and concludes with the carrying away of the stolen items from the place where the property was seized. Robbery occurs when the victim(s), by force or fear, have been removed from or prevented from approaching the place from which the asportation of the property has occurred. *State v. McDonald*, 74 Wn.2d 141, 144-45, 443 P.2d 651 (1968).

//

//

//

A. There Is No Requirement That the Property Be Taken from A Person Who Has an Ownership Interest In the Property

The court of appeals reversed McCray's robbery conviction, in part, because two of the individuals present in the apartment when McCray and his brother removed items at gunpoint had no property or ownership interest in the items that were taken and thus "could not be a victim of the robbery charge as a matter of law." Slip op. at 9. The court of appeals supported its holding with decisions issued long before *Nelson*. *See* Slip op. at 8 (citing a 1909 and 2005 decision).

There is, however, no requirement that property be taken from a person who has care, custody, management, or control of the property. *Nelson*, 191 Wn.2d at 75-77; *see also Nelson*, 191 Wn.2d at 77-78 (González, J., concurring). It is only necessary that the person from whom the property is taken have a possessory right superior to that of the defendant. *State v. Long*, 65 Wn.2d 303, 315-16, 396 P.2d 990 (1964); *State v. Graham*, 64 Wn. App. 305, 308-09, 824 P.2d 502 (1992). A sufficient

possessory right can be established by mere possession, without any claim of ownership. Thus, anyone having a right to possession superior to that of the defendant, even a thief, is deemed to be an owner as against that defendant may be a victim of robbery. *State v. Latham*, 35 Wn. App. 862, 865-66, 670 P.2d 689 (1983), *overruled in part by State v. Nelson*, 191 Wn.2d 61, 77, 419 P.3d 410 (2018).

Here, all four people who were present in the apartment when McCray and his brother removed the two gaming consoles, the two flat screen TVs, and the parts of the surround sound system at gunpoint had a superior right to possession of the items as to that of McCray. Two of the four people from whose presence the property was taken by force owned at least one of the stolen items. *See* RP 242 (Walker's surround sound system ripped off the wall); RP 262 (Floyd owned the smaller TV that was taken). Lair, as a resident of the apartment had constructive possession of the items removed from the bedroom she shared with Walker and from the shared living room. Jones, who was

Floyd's guest at the time of the robbery, had been using a game console with his host's permission at the time of the invasion. *See* RP 230, 320 (Jones and Floyd playing computer games in Floyd's room). Thus, all four of the occupants in the apartment at the time of the robbery could, as a matter of law, be victims of the robbery and the court of appeals' decision conflicts with both *Nelson* and *Long*.

B. Only One Robbery Occurs When Property is Taken from the Presence of Multiple People

The court of appeals reversed McCray's robbery conviction, in part, because it concluded that four separate robberies⁶ occurred when McCray and his brother removed items from the presence of four individuals who had a superior right to possess the items than McCray. *See* Slip op. at 8. Starting from

⁶ The court of appeals erroneously states in its opinion that the State argued that "all four victims present in the apartment on July 13, 2019, were individually robbed." Slip op. at 8. The State's closing argument did not claim each of the occupants in the apartment was individually robbed. Rather, the State's argument was that the shotgun was pointed at each of the occupants during the robbery. *See* Slip op. at 11 (quoting RP 542).

this premise, the court held that jury unanimity was required as to which resident was robbed. Slip op. at 9-12.

The unit of prosecution for robbery is each separate forcible taking of property from, or from the presence of, a person having an ownership, representative, or possessory interest in the property. Tvedt, 153 Wn.2d at 714-15. A defendant who, like McCray, uses force or fear to take or retain property from the presence of multiple people commits but one robbery—rather than one robbery for each person present. *Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d at 714-15. As this court explained in Tvedt, "[i]f there is one taking of property, as the taking of the business's receipts from a single business safe or a single cash register, there can be a conviction for robbery on only one count, regardless of the number of employees present who have authority over the property, because there has been only one taking." *Id.* at 715-16.

The multiple people present single robbery is similar to an assault in which the defendant kicks, slaps, and punches the victim. The jury must unanimously agree that the defendant did

a harmful or offensive touching or striking, see WPIC 35.50, to convict, but the jurors do not need to unanimously agree on the same slap, kick, or punch. In a single multiple person present robbery, the jury must unanimously agree that property was taken from the presence of at least one person with a superior possession right to the property than that of the defendant. The jury is not required to unanimously agree on what particular evidence is probative on a specific element of a crime, particularly if the evidence supports alternative theories of how that element occurred. Many jurisdictions find that a specific unanimity instruction regarding the victim or the robbery is not required when, as here, the evidence showed a continuing course of conduct rather than clearly detached incidents. See, e.g., People v. Carrera, 777 P.2d 121, 131-33 (Cal. 1989) (it is not necessary that the jury distinguish between two victims when a single robbery is charged for funds taken from the immediate presence of two people and there is no evidence from which the jury could have found the defendant was guilty of robbing one of the victims and not the other); *Commonwealth v. Wadlington*, 4 N.E.3d 296, 307-08 (Mass. 2014) (no specific unanimity instruction as to victim was required where property was taken from both victims' person or presence in a continuing course of conduct); *People v. Guffie*, 749 P.2d 976, 980 (Colo. 1987) (no unanimity required as to multiple robbery victims).

Multiple robberies may be charged with respect to a single incident only when the defendant through fear or force took property separately from each individual present at the scene. An example of when multiple robberies occur, rather than one robbery is the taking of money from each of two bank tellers, each of which had dominion and control over separate tills. *Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d at 716. When multiple counts are charged, the general practice is to name the victim of each count to avoid the possibility of double punishment for a single offense. This double jeopardy concern, however, is not present when there is but a single count.

Here, there was one taking from the presence of four individuals who were held at shotgun by McCray or his brother while valuables were collected from various places in the apartment, rather than the wresting of items directly from each of the four persons present in the apartment. Thus, there was but a single robbery and jury unanimity was secured by that portion of Jury Instruction 28 which instructed the jury that "[b]ecause this is a criminal case, each of you must agree for you to return a verdict." CP 55.

The court of appeals decision that there were four separate burglaries is not supported by the record and is contrary to *Tvedt*. The court of appeals decision that the jury needed to unanimously agree on the specific victim of the robbery is contrary to *Tvedt*, as only one robbery occurred over a short period of time and the jury need not unanimously agree on what facts support each element of the crime. Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) with the intent of reinstating McCray's robbery conviction.

C. The Identity of the Victim Is Not an Essential Element When a Single Count of Robbery is Charged

The court of appeals reversed McCray's robbery conviction, in part, because it concluded that the identity of the victim is an essential element of robbery that needs to appear in both the information and the to-convict jury instruction. Slip op. at 9, 11. The court of appeals cited no legal authority in support of this proposition.

In 2008, this court expressly held that "[p]roof of robbery does not require the specific identity of the victim or victims." *Kier*, 164 Wn.2d at 812. And that when a single taking of property places multiple victims in fear of harm, the identity of the victim is not essential to the conviction. *Id*.

The facts of this case mirror *Kier*. In *Kier*, the defendant threatened the owner of a vehicle at gun point to induce him to abandon the vehicle. 164 Wn.2d at 802. The defendant then pointed the gun at a passenger in the vehicle's front seat who had no ownership interest in the vehicle, to induce the passenger to

exit the vehicle so it could be driven away. *Id.* at 802-03. Thus, the taking occurred from the presence of two individuals.

The "to convict" instruction tendered to Kier's jury, like that used in this case, did not name a victim:

To convict the defendant of the crime of Robbery in the First Degree, as charged in Count I, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- 1. That on or about [the] 27th day of April, 1999 the defendant unlawfully took personal property from the person or in the presence of another;
- 2. That the defendant intended to commit theft of the property;
- 3. That the taking was against the person's will by the defendant's use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or to that person's property or the property of another;
- 4. That force or fear was used by the defendant to obtain or retain possession of the property or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking;
- 5. That in the commission of these acts or in immediate flight therefrom the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon or displayed what

appeared to be a deadly weapon or inflicted bodily injury; and

6. That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.

Id. at 808-09 (citing clerk's papers).

The lack of an identified victim in the jury instruction did not pose any problem with respect to unanimity as there was but one unit of prosecution and only one robbery. *Kier*, 164 Wn.2d at 812-13. The lack of an identified victim of the robbery did, however, create a merger/double jeopardy issue as the lack of jury unanimity as to the victim prevented the defendant from being punished for robbing one victim and assaulting the second victim. *Id.* at 814. Because the State dismissed the assault charge prior to trial and only sought to punish McCray for the robbery, 7 the State was not required to name a specific victim in either the information or the to convict instruction.

⁷ Compare CP 16 with CP 3.

VII. CONCLUSION

The court of appeals reversed a single robbery conviction that was predicated on a single course of conduct in which McCray and his brother broke into an apartment and took items from various locations in the apartment while threatening the occupants with a shotgun. The court of appeals' decision conflicts with three of this court's opinions—*Kier*, *Tvedt*, and *Nelson*. This court should grant review and summarily reverse the court of appeals.

This document contains 4,265 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.