FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/23/2025 4:16 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1036981 COA No. 86856-0-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner, v. ZAQUAI MCCRAY, Respondent. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

OLIVER R. DAVIS Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ARGUMENT IN ANSWER TO PETITION
1. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1)
2. Review should be denied
B. CONCLUSION 10
TADI E OE AUTUODITIES
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
WASHINGTON CASES
State v. Bland, 71 Wn. App. 345, 860 P.2d 1046 (1993) 4
State v. Carson, 184 Wn.2d 207, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015) 7
State v. Coleman, 159 Wn.2d 509, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007) . 1,2,9
State v. Corbett, 158 Wn. App. 576, 242 P.3d 52 (2010)
State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 194 P.3d 212 (2008)
State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988) 1,9
State v. Nelson, 191 Wn.2d 61, 419 P.3d 410 (2018) 7,8
State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984) 2
State v. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 290 P.3d 996 (2012).
State v. Tvedt, 153 Wn.2d 705, 107 P.3d 728 (2005)
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
CONST. art I, § 21

A. ARGUMENT IN ANSWER TO PETITION

1. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Court of Appeals decision was properly reasoned and is simply an instance of the Court reversing without prejudice where the State's manner of charging, presentation of the case, jury instructions, and argument show that the verdict carries no assurances of unanimity. See, e.g., State v. Coleman, 159 Wn.2d 509, 513, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007) (where the evidence showed multiple instances of an act that each "could form the basis" of a guilty verdict, but the prosecutor failed to elect which instance the jury should rest its verdict on, unanimity was violated) (Emphasis added.).

Per longstanding law, this constitutional error is harmless "only if no rational juror could have a reasonable doubt as to any of the incidents alleged." Coleman, at 512 (citing State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411-12, 756 P.2d 105 (1988)). This high burden on the State of showing harmlessness exists "because of the possibility that some

jurors relied on one act or incident and some relied on another, resulting in a lack of unanimity[.]" Coleman, at 512; CONST. art I, § 21.

In the Court of Appeals below, the Respondent's central contention was that State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984) did not apply because the defendant's conduct was a "continuing course," as contrasted with a "multiple acts" case - the doctrine applying only to the latter. BOR, at pp. 12-19. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that this was not a continuing course case, distinguishing the State's citation to cases including the published decision in State v. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 446, 290 P.3d 996 (2012).

Now, the Petitioner, seeking review, does not place substantial reliance on the unsupportable notion of a "continuing course," but instead asserts that the case was proffered to the factfinder as one where the accused committed one robbery, which had multiple victims. PFR, at

21, 22. The State contends that because the crime of robbery can be committed when a person's property is taken in their presence or that of others, the verdict below must have been premised on a conclusion that the defendant committed a single robbery of one or more "victim(s)" [singular, or plural, apparently] who were present in the home. BOR, at pp. 15-17.

Certainly a given robbery case could be presented to a jury in such a manner. For example, multiple convictions for robbery may be secured and do not violate double jeopardy where each count was supported by evidence of a forcible taking of property from a person. State v. Tvedt, 153 Wn.2d 705, 711, 107 P.3d 728, 732 (2005) ("By describing the crime of robbery as it did, the legislature established an offense which is dual in nature - robbery is a property crime and a crime against the person."). The robbery statute allows this. Tvedt, at 713 ("one can be convicted of robbery for each forcible taking from a separate person.").

Ultimately, as the Court of Appeals rightly emphasized, where is a Petrich contention, the question of error comes down to how the prosecution charged and endeavoured to prove the case at bar. See State v. Bland, 71 Wn. App. 345, 351-52, 860 P.2d 1046 (1993) (in determining whether a case involved multiple acts and thus required a Petrich instruction or an election, the reviewing court considers the whole record of trial, including the evidence, information, argument and instructions); State v. Corbett, 158 Wn. App. 576, 593, 242 P.3d 52 (2010) (courts consider the instructions, evidence and closing arguments, to determine if the jury understood it was required to find each element proved as to each count). Here, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized that this was a multiple acts case, governed by Petrich. Decision, at p. 6 (The State must "elect the act on which it will rely for conviction.") (citing Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 572.).

The very matters that the Petitioner relies upon to claim that the Court of Appeals decision was incorrect - the absence

of a named victim in the charging document, or in the instructions of law (see State's PFR, at pp. 1, 7-8), are the circumstances that created the <u>Petrich</u> error in the first place, all of which were of the State's own making. As the Court of Appeals stated:

Again, although four individuals beyond [defendants] McCray and Javonne were present during the incident, only a single count of robbery was charged and neither the information nor the jury instructions identified a specific person as the victim. It is the manner by which the State charged and argued this case that created alternative crimes for the jury to consider. This assignment of error is not simply based on the absence of an instruction on unanimity, but rather on how that omission interacts with the State's failure to properly elect the specific act on which it intended to rely to secure a guilty verdict on this count.

Decision, at p. 11. As the Court of Appeals also correctly stated, the trial prosecutor told the jury that both codefendants, at some point during the incident, possessed the gun and pointed it at complainants Desire'e Lair, Harold

Walker, Brandon Floyd and "Ace" Jones and "demanded <u>their</u> stuff." Decision, at pp. 11-12 (Emphasis in COA decision).

Petitioner argues that this was not how the trial prosecutor argued the case to the jury. PFR, at p. 17 and n. 6. First, this is incorrect. See, e.g., 9/26/22RP at 546 (prosecutor arguing to the jury that the defendants "searched Harold and Desire'e's room for [the] valuables" while wielding the shotgun); 9/26/22RP at 546-47 (arguing that proof of robbery was shown by evidence that "items were taken" from Brandon Floyd and were taken "against Brandon [Floyd]'s will" by the use of force where defendants "assaulted Brandon, or Old School, with that firearm;" 9/26/22RP at 547 (arguing that "items were taken against the will of Brandon, Harold and Desire'e;" 9/26/22RP at 548 (arguing that Brandon and Ace Jones were "trying to stop the defendants" and tussled with them; 9/26/22RP at 554 (arguing that the defendants "used that shotgun to put fear inside of

Desire'e and Harold and Brandon and Ace. And they did so with the intent to commit Theft, to take property.").

Second, even if a jumble of statements made in closing argument included one which might support the Petitioner's characterization of its case (the matter posed here solely for purposes of argument), and others that do not, this appeal is operating in the <u>Petrich</u> realm where express clarity, not a jumble, is required. State v. Carson, 184 Wn.2d 207, 227, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015) (an adequate election is made only where the prosecutor "clearly identifies" the particular acts on which charge is based). Pointing to a sentence in closing argument that might support the State's claim on petition for review is inadequate to show that the lay jury was clearly informed by the prosecutor as to the set of facts constituting the crime under the State's theory.

The State cites to <u>State v. Kier</u>, 164 Wn.2d 798, 812, 194 P.3d 212 (2008) and <u>State v. Nelson</u>, 191 Wn.2d 61, 419 P.3d 410 (2018) (the case of State v. Tvedt, 153 Wn.2d 705,

107 P.3d 728 (2005), is discussed <u>supra</u>). The State argues that the Court of Appeals could only reverse by holding, contrary to <u>Nelson</u>, that the victim must have an ownership interest in the stolen property. PFR, at p. 3. The State also argues that proof of robbery "does not require the specific identity of the victim or victims." PFR, at p. 22.

But the Court of Appeals discussion of certain possible aspects of robbery are not pronouncements of law, rather, they are part of the discussion of the robbery trial in this case which serve to illustrate the fractured manner in which the State charged, presented, and argued its case to the jury, and the prosecutor's shifting characterizations of the case, including by arguing lack of a possessory interest in order to secure the highest possible offender score. Decision, at p. 12 (stating, "Even after the conclusion of a trial that resulted in guilty verdicts, the State itself could not describe with confidence what facts it had proved with regard to the robbery."

2. Review should be denied.

The gravamen of <u>Petrich</u> error is exemplified by this trial case which was argued to the jury sans election and thus resulted in a verdict obtained entirely in disregard of the unanimity guarantee. By failing to <u>clearly</u> identify the acts that the State believed made out the robbery count charged, it allowed some jurors to rest their determination on one hypothetical instance of robbery against a person, and other jurors to rely on another involving a different person, while still other jurors may have rested their decision on yet another possible instance. There were no assurances of unanimity in this case.

The error, which is constitutional, can be deemed harmless not by the presence of sufficient evidence, but rather, only if the evidence as to each of the multiple acts was so strong and consistent that a Court can say that no juror could have done anything other than decree the defendant guilty as to each and every instance. State v. Kitchen, 110

Wn.2d at 409; <u>State v. Coleman</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 513. The Court of Appeals properly reversed.

B. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the Petition for Review.

This brief contains 1,590 words and complies with RAP

18.17.